IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

DAVID BYNUM

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-WC-00506-COA

EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

ANDERSON TULLY LUMBER COMPANY

AND

ţ

Ę,

i -

É

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

CARRIER/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

HON. JOHN HUNTER STEVENS MSB# GRENFELL, SLEDGE AND STEVENS 1659 LELIA DRIVE JACKSON MS 39216 TEL NO. (601) 366-1900 FAX NO. (601) 366-1799 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT
NO. 2008-WC-00506-COA
EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY CARRIER/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

ſ

ć

έ.

ŧ i J

ł

l

 Whether the Commission erred in not reversing the findings of the Administrative Judge.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This claim was denied by the Administrative Judge based on the Statue of Limitations affirmative defense set forth by the employer and carrier. Claimant acknowledges that the Petition to Controvert was not filed within the two-year period set forth in the relevant portions of the Act. However, Claimant did timely file a claim in pursuant to the well-settled findings of the MS Supreme Court. The doctrine of equitable estoppel requires payment of this legitimate claim.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Claimant, David Bynum, at the time of the hearing, was fifty-three years old. He did not finish high school, nor did he obtain a GED. In his late teens or at approximately twenty years old Claimant went to work for Anderson-Tully, the employer herein. Claimant worked for Anderson-Tully for a period twenty-eight years before his admitted injury.

Claimant filed his Petition to Controvert, which is an exhibit in the record, alleging a "continuing" injury that started on February 27, 2001. This continuing injury was admitted in the Answer filed by the Employer and Carrier. Claimant admittedly returned to work after seeing the emergency room doctor and as a result of continued problems from the heavy lifting involved. Claimant's condition grew worse, and he reported the injury and condition to the plant nurse who advised him to seek treatment and/or sent him to see Dr. Ferrer, an orthopedic surgeon in Vicksburg, MS. March 20, 2001, Dr. Ferrer diagnosed Claimant with Lumbar Spondylosis, pre-existing, which "has been aggravated by the current job" (General Exhibit "1"). Dr. Ferrer informed the Claimant he could not return to his usual occupation, but could go to a job that was light-duty and did not require him to lift more than twenty pounds repetitively and forty pounds occasionally.

÷

ŝ

; ,

ŧ.

į = į .

1.

Claimant returned to his job, and gave the off-work excuse to his immediate foreman, Bobby Conrad. Mr. Conrad sent Claimant to the Human Resources Manager, Mike Myrick. Mr. Myrick informed the Claimant there was no light-duty work at Anderson-Tully. Mr. Myrick told the Claimant "we're going to have to lay you off and pay you Workers' Comp" (T-23). Subsequently, the Claimant was paid benefit checks that were identified as sick pay, which he was told was Workers' Compensation for a period of six months in the amount of \$200 per week. Subsequently, Mr. Myrick, when questioned about the Workers' Compensation, told Claimant his Workers' Compensation had "run out" (T-26) (see also General Exhibit "9"). None of these facts were disputed at the hearing.

ł

.

i .

i

ł

i.

į

Sometime in the year 2002 would have been within a year of the accident, the Claimant retained the services of at least one attorney, who made a claim for Workers' Compensation benefits to Anderson-Tully by and through Anderson-Tully. This was confirmed at least as early as March 7, 2002. In a letter from the Human Resources manager, dated March 7, 2002, it was further indicated that a claim of Workers' Compensation would have immediately been made and forwarded to Liberty Mutual. Mr. Myrick was also provided with a detailed typed-up statement as to what had occurred to Mr. Bynum when he hurt his back; specifically that he was told he was put on Workers' Compensation pay had run out, exactly as he had testified at the hearing. This again was dated within one year of the accident (see General Exhibit "9").

In addition, Mr. Bynum filled out what was identified and made an exhibit as "Anderson-Tully Company Injured Worker's Statement." This was signed by Mr. Bynum on an undated form, presumably also shortly after the accident. Additional exhibits were a drug test taken by the Claimant February 27, 2001, and also an "Anderson-Tully Company Injured Worker's Statement" signed by a witness involved in the accident, Jessie D. Kyle. Included in the additional documentation concerning the Workers' Compensation claim was a signed statement by Mr. Bynum and Jessie D. Kyle dated February 26, 2001.

÷ .

It is important to know that within a month shortly after that accident when Dr. Ferrer did not let him return in a light-duty capacity, he did sign a request for family medical leave and leave of absence. However, <u>nowhere</u> on that form was there any indication as to whether or not this was work-related or <u>not</u> work-related. It merely indicated there was a leave of absence. Granted, it was submitted to the Human Resources manager (see General Exhibit "7").

The additional evidence that a claim was timely made Liberty Mutual, in addition to taking recorded statements in an investigation, sent a letter to Dr. Ferrer, dated October 23, 2002, signed by Larry W. Clemmons of Liberty Mutual. Subsequently, while the Claimant did have at least two differently lawyers handling the claim, there were settlement negotiations undertaken between Liberty Mutual and at least one of the Claimant's prior lawyers. All of this occurred within two years of the date of the accident (see General Exhibit "10").

In addition, what is significant is that Liberty Mutual is now urging this Court to affirm the Administrative Law Judge's findings that the Claimant is barred by the Statue of Limitations in that the Claimant did not follow the procedures of the Workers' Compensation Act. This is in direct contrast that Liberty Mutual itself did nothing and further <u>violated</u> the Act in failing to file anything with the Workers' Compensation Commission as required by law.

Liberty Mutual and/or the Employer are required to file a Form B-3 First Report of Injury within fourteen days of being notified of a claim. According to the records, the Carrier and/or Anderson-Tully filed nothing until July 25, 2003, more than two years after the date of the accident and at least more than a year and three months when they first were notified that the Claimant was pursuing a Workers' Compensation claim, and had represented to them that he was of the opinion that he had received Workers' Compensation benefits by virtue of the statement submitted by one of his prior attorneys (General Exhibit "10"). The Employer/Carrier's violation of the Act in failure to file the appropriate forms forecloses their right to affirmatively plea the Statue of Limitations was passed. Furthermore, the Employer/Carrier knew a claim was made at least as early as March of 2002 required pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-37 shall file a Notice of Controversy which was never filed by the Employer/Carrier. This failure on the part of the Employer and Carrier in and of itself should prevent them from relying on the limitations set forth in § 71-3-35.

In short, the Employer/Carrier should not be able to argue that the Claimant did not follow on the appropriate sections of the Act, procedurally when the Employer/Carrier itself failed to follow those similar provisions concerning filing of claims. Employer/Carrier should be estopped from relying on provisions of the Act that the Employer/Carrier, itself, did not comply with.

This case files squarely within the confines of *McCrary v. City of Biloxi*, 757 So.2d 978, 981-82 (Miss 2000). The MS Supreme Court has long held that the elements of equitable estoppel would apply exactly to protect the Claimant in a situation such as what has occurred in the present case. Conduct and acts, language <u>or silence</u> amounting to a representation or concealment of material facts with knowledge of such facts with the intent that representation or silence or concealment be relied upon with the other party's ignorance of the true facts in reliance to his damage upon the representation or silence on the party asserting estoppel. *Id.* at 981 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Anderson-Tully and Liberty Mutual, like the *City of Biloxi*, failed to file the statutory required Notice of Controversy, and failed to file a B-3 in a timely manner. Anderson-Tully and Liberty Mutual engaged in settlement negations, and conveniently made no effort to follow the guidelines

ί.

Ε.

Ē

-4-

of the Act, knowing full-well the Claimant was assuming that the payments he received were for Workers' Compensation benefits.

When you apply these facts knowing full well that the Claimant relied on the representation of Mr. Myrick, which is not refuted. Mr. Myrick was <u>not</u> called as a witness at the hearing; therefore, the testimony concerning his out-of-court statement is taken as truth. In addition, the Employer and Carrier knew within one year of the accident that the Claimant was assuming the sick-pay benefits were Workers' Compensation, and still made no effort to file a Notice of Controversy or B-3 or any other filing within two years of the date of the accident. Therefore, applying *McCrary v. City of Biloxi*, <u>especially</u> when the Court considers the Workers' Compensation Act is to be liberally construed with doubtful cases in favor of compensation.

6

,

ı.

ι.

į.

1.

f

1,

f =

Ĺ,

The Claimant was a long-term loyal employee, and his integrity and testimony was <u>not</u> questioned at the hearing. The testimony concerning the conversation with Mr. Myrick as set forth in his recorded statements was not refuted at the hearing. The transcript of the hearing and the exhibits at the hearing unequivocally reveal that Liberty Mutual and Anderson-Tully failed to file a first report of injury when the initial claim started in February of 2001. Even after taking statements and being formally notified in writing that the Claimant had a disabling injury, and that the Claimant assumed that he had received Workers' Compensation benefits, the Employer and Carrier took no action whatsoever until its filing of a B-3 in July of 2003, more than two years after the accident.

The Employer and Carrier cannot dispute that it failed to follow the procedural requirements of the Act. The Employer and Carrier cannot argue that it was prejudiced in any manner by any delays in the Claimant in pursuing this matter which all were at least within one year of the date of this accident, and specifically immediately after the accident when the Claimant was initially told by Mr. Myrick that he was taking him off work since they had no light-duty and was putting him on Workers' Compensation.

Alternatively, applying the liberal construction to the Act § 71-3-35 provides the two year limitations period is erased if there is "payment of compensation." The fact that the Employer and Carrier argue that this is not Workers' Compensation but instead "sick pay" or some other type of disability payments made should not matter. This is considered "compensation." The fact is the Claimant received compensation. His interpretation of that compensation was that it was Workers' Compensation. Additionally, Mississippi law allows an employer and a carrier to take a credit for any payments that were made to a Claimant for disability purposes which would include short-term disability, long-term disability, sick pay and the like, even including unemployment benefits. In as much as the law allows a credit for Workers' Compensation benefits, it certainly would require that these payments should be considered "compensation," as that term is described and not defined in Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35. As such, the two-year Statue of Limitation is not applicable for this reason alone, and therefore the claim should be compensable.

CONCLUSION

In short, the holdings of the MS Supreme Court and the requirements of the Act require that this equitable estoppel prevent the Employer and Carrier from utilizing the affirmative defense of Statue of Limitation. Therefore, the Circuit Court Order affirming the Commission should be reversed.

÷ .

È

ě.