## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

## NO. 2008-WC-00506-COA

### DAVID BYNUM

APPELLANT

VS.

## ANDERSON-TULLY LUMBER COMPANY AND LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI; CAUSE NO. 07,0230-CI

## **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

W. BIENVILLE SKIPPER - BAR **# 1999** DANIEL COKER HORTON AND BELL, P.A. 4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400 POST OFFICE BOX 1084 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084 (601) 969-7607 Attorney for Appellees

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

#### NO. 2008-WC-00506-COA

#### DAVID BYNUM

VS.

## ANDERSON TULLY-LUMBER COMPANY AND LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The employer and carrier submit the Commission's ruling is due to be affirmed, as it is supported by substantial evidence. The Commission, whose Order is the only one subject to scrutiny in this workers' compensation appeal, received and reviewed all the evidence and determined the appropriate weight to give the testimony and each admitted exhibit. Bynum's appeal seeks nothing more than to have this Court allot different weight to the testimony and evidence – focusing primarily on his own testimony while discounting the contradictory proof – but, as the Court is aware, an appeals court cannot re-weigh the evidence and render its own opinion of the testimony. Under the law, deference is given to the Commission, which issued its

decision after its own independent review of the evidence. Even if the Order of the Full Commission is not the opinion the Court would have rendered, the fact that the Commission's Order is supported by evidence in the record necessitates it again be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

The law applicable to this case is simple and straightforward. Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-35(1) provides that "if no payment of compensation (other than medical treatment or burial expense) is made and no application for benefits filed with the commission <u>within two years from</u> <u>the date of injury</u> or death, the right of compensation therefore shall be barred." (Emphasis added). It is uncontested Liberty Mutual Insurance Company never paid Bynum any workers' compensation indemnity benefits, though it paid medical benefits for Bynum's injury. Therefore, the two year statute of limitations applies unless Bynum meets one narrow exception.<sup>2</sup> Bynum admits this. See Brief of Appellant at 1. ("[c]laimant acknowledges that the Petition to Controvert was not filed within the two-year period set forth in the relevant portions of the Act.").

The Order of the Full Commission is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed. The overwhelming majority of the claimant's brief consists of repackaging the testimony, omitting certain detrimental evidence, to have this Court re-weigh the evidence. Since the Commission is the statutory finder of fact and entitled to deference, however, appellate inquiry should be limited to whether substantial evidence exists to support the Commission's determination.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  his brief to this Court, Bynum argues "equitable estoppel" as an alternative exception to the mandates of §71-3-35 (1). As will be discussed herein, such a theory is not an exception to the statute of limitations, but rather an affirmative burden of proof.

## I. <u>Standard of Review</u>

The standard of review in workers' compensation appeals is both narrow and limited:

The Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier and finder of facts in a compensation claim, the findings of the Administrative Law Judge to the contrary notwithstanding.

\* \* \*

[An appellate court may] reverse the Commission's order only if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Smith v. Container General Corp., 559 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Miss. 1990) [quoting Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988)]. "The Commission is the finder of facts. And if those facts are based on substantial evidence [an appellate court lacks] the power to disturb them, even though that evidence would not convince [the court] were [it] the fact finders." Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler, 475 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985). "An appellate court must defer to an administrative agency's findings of fact if there is even a quantum of credible evidence that supports the agency's decision." Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr., 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 1997).

On appeal, as to factual matters, the Commission's findings are entitled to great weight and deference. *Natchez Equip. Co. v. Gibbs*, 623 So.2d 270, 273 (Miss. 1993). As long as the Commission's decision is based on substantial evidence, the Commission's Order must be affirmed. *Id.; KLLM, Inc. v. Fowler,* 589 So. 2d 670, 675 (Miss. 1991); *Strickland v. M. H. McMath Gin, Inc.* 457 So. 2d 925, 928 (Miss. 1984). It is with these standards in mind that the Court must consider the instant case.

#### II. The Commission's Decision is Supported by Substantial Evidence

The sole inquiry on appeal is whether the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence. The record is clear that it is. To avoid the statute of limitations, Bynum makes three arguments. He asserts: (1) he was paid wages in lieu of compensation, (2) his back injury was latent, and (3) equitable estoppel should apply. As will be shown, below, all of Bynum's excuses are insufficient.

#### A. Bynum Did Not Receive Wages in Lieu of Compensation

Wages paid by an employer in lieu of workers' compensation benefits can serve to toll the two year statute of limitations if the wages are paid either expressly or impliedly in recognition of compensation liability. See *Brown v. F. W. Woolworth Co.*, 348 So. 2d 236, 240 (Miss. 1977); Dunn, Mississippi Workmen's Compensation § 318.1 (3d ed. 1982). However, to prevail on this theory, there must be some proof employer and carrier <u>intended</u> such payments to be in lieu of indemnity benefits. *Parchman v. Amwood Prods., Inc.*, 2008 Miss. LEXIS 303, \*7 (Miss. S. Ct. June 12, 2008), citing *George S. Taylor Constr. Co. v. Harlow*, 269 So. 2d 337, 338 (Miss. 1972). "Whether or not any part of [a claimant's] wages should be found to be in lieu of compensation is an issue of fact, and this Court defers to the Commission's findings of fact." *Baker v. IGA Super Valu Food Store*, 2008 Miss. App. LEXIS 246, \*7 (Miss. App. Ct. April 22, 2008), citing *Lanterman v. Roadway Express, Inc.*, 608 So. 2d 1340, 1345 (Miss. 1992). In *Harlow*, the Court remarked that "since there is seldom any evidence on whether such an intention lay behind the payment, it must be inferred from the circumstances surrounding the payment." *Id*, Fortunately in the case *sub judice*, unlike in most cases, the record contains contemporaneous

evidence that Bynum's sick pay checks were *not* intended to be in lieu of any worker's compensation liability.

In the case at bar, Bynum presented absolutely no corroborative evidence to support his allegation his sick pay checks were intended by Anderson-Tully to be in lieu of compensation benefits for a work-related back injury. The most he offered at the hearing – and now offers again on appeal – was his own testimony that he <u>thought</u> his sick pay was meant to be compensation. He also alleges Mr. Myrick told him the payments were supposed to be workers' compensation benefits. Completely contradicting Bynum's allegations, however, was direct testimony from Ms. Priest that the sick pay Bynum received was intended to be short term disability payments for a <u>personal injury</u> to Bynum's back, and specifically were <u>not</u> workers' compensation benefits.

Bynum's pay records supported Ms. Priest's testimony. Conspicuously absent from the evidence offered before the Commission is <u>any</u> proof in the form of pay stubs, letters or any other documentation that the payments at issue were intended to be workers' compensation benefits, as Bynum claims, or that the employer considered Bynum's back condition part of his work injury. Indeed, the only evidence supporting Bynum's claims comes from Bynum's own testimony as to what he claims he was told or what he believed. Clearly, the Commission was well within its rights to give greater credence to the testimony of Ms. Priest, which was corroborated by the both Bynum's medical leave forms, his contemporaneous pay records and Mr. Myrick's letters, than to Bynum's unsupported statements.<sup>3</sup> Understandably, Bynum's brief to the Court makes little mention of these facts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Further undermining Bynum's allegations, the AJ properly noted the parties stipulated Bynum's average weekly wage at the time of his injury was \$426.71, which would have provided him with a weekly workers' compensation benefit of \$284.49, not the \$200 he received as sick pay. Bynum had no explanation for this discrepancy.

Further undermining Bynum's allegations, the AJ properly noted the parties stipulated Bynum's average weekly wage at the time of his injury was \$426.71, which would have provided him with a weekly workers' compensation benefit of \$284.49, not the \$200 he received as sick pay. Bynum had no explanation for this discrepancy.

Contrary to the bald statement in Bynum's brief that his testimony about what Mr. Myrick allegedly told him was uncontradicted, objective proof was admitted into evidence which <u>directly</u> contradicted Bynum's claim that Mr. Myrick told him he was receiving workers' compensation payments. In letters to Bynum's first two attorneys in March 2002 (well inside the two year statute of limitations period), Mr. Myrick stated Bynum was not receiving workers' compensation benefits. Mr. Myrick's letters conclusively prove that, only months after beginning sick pay benefits to Bynum, Anderson-Tully informed Bynum's own attorneys he was not receiving any workers' compensation payments and that Bynum was not off work due to any work injury. The dates of the letters are also important, as they show the information was communicated to Bynum within the statute of limitations period, thereby allowing Bynum the opportunity to file a timely Petition to Controvert, which he simply did not do. Bynum's representation that his testimony as to what he claims Mr. Myrick told him stood unopposed is simply inaccurate.

To prevail on the argument he received sick pay checks in lieu of workers' compensation, Bynum must prove <u>both</u> that Anderson-Tully knew his back condition was work-related and also that it intended his sick pay checks to be paid in lieu of that recognized workers' compensation liability. Ms. Priest testified Bynum told her his back was injured at home and the objective proof does not demonstrate the sick pay checks were intended to be workers' compensation payments. Given all of the evidence in the record, the Commission, in its role as statutory fact-

1....

finder, had a substantial evidentiary basis to determined Bynum failed to meet his burden of proof that the two year statute of limitations was tolled. As such, the Commission's decision should be affirmed.

#### **B.** Bynum's Injury Was Not Latent

Tacitly recognizing the insufficiency of his proof regarding payments of wages in lieu of compensation, Bynum briefly attempted at the hearing to argue his back injury was "latent," in hopes of tolling the statute of limitations. He revisits this same rejected argument in his brief to this Court, describing his injury as "continuing." However, as the AJ, the Commission and the Circuit Court correctly noted, this argument holds no merit.

"[T]he claim period [for an injury] runs from the time a compensable injury becomes reasonably apparent." *Tabor Motor Co. v. Gerard*, 233 So. 2d 811 (Miss. 1970). The Mississippi Court of Appeals has defined a "latent injury" as " an injury that a reasonable prudent [person] would not be aware of <u>at the moment it was sustained</u>." *Tommy Boykin v. Sanderson Farms, Inc.*,910 So. 2d 52, 55 (Miss. 2005) (citing *J. H. Moon & Sons, Inc. v. Johnson*, 753 So.2d 445,448 (Miss. 1999) (citing *Georgia Pac. Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 So.2d 823,827 (Miss. 1991)) (emphasis added). In *Boykin*, the Court ruled the two year statute limitations barred a claim for benefits, since the claimant had been <u>aware</u> of his injury at the time it was initially sustained, despite his insistence that he was unaware of the <u>extent</u> of his injuries. *Id.* at 56. Likewise, the records in this case is clear that Bynum knew he sustained an injury at the time his accident occurred, because he sought medical treatment for it. His argument, in essence, is that he did not know the extent of his injury, which is insufficient to toll the statute of limitations. Regardless of how Bynum attempts to categorize his injury, i.e., "latent" vs. "continuing," the Commission correctly noted that Bynum began seeing Dr. Ferrer and was taken off work for his back on <u>March 20, 2001</u>. Even were one to accept Bynum's argument, the two year statute of limitations applicable to his claim would have begun running at <u>that</u> time and Bynum's claim would still be time-barred by §71-3-35 (1), since his Petition to Controvert was not filed until December 23, 2003. As such, this argument is without merit.

#### C. Equitable Estoppel Cannot Apply

ŧ :

In a final attempt to avoid the statute of limitations, Bynum argues the employer and carrier should be prevented from asserting the two year statute of limitations defense on equitable grounds. In so urging, Bynum alleges the employer and carrier failed to follow the provisions of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act ("Act") requiring the filing of a First Report of Injury and cites the Court to inapposite case law. Yet, Bynum's argument is fatally flawed and, as the Commission determined, equitable estoppel is not appropriate in this case.

An affirmative matter requiring proof, the Mississippi Supreme Court has determined that under certain circumstances, equitable estoppel can prevent the use of the two year statute to bar a claim. However, such a theory <u>only</u> applies if the employer and carrier engage in inequitable conduct with the intent of misleading the claimant into not filing a claim. *Brock v. Hankins Lumber Co.*, 786 So. 2d 1064, 1067-68 (Miss. App. 2000).

"In order to raise an estoppel against an employer from pleading limitations, as by a statement that there is no insurance in effect, <u>the proof must show actionable fraud or misrepresentation</u>." Dunn, *Workmen's Compensation*, 3d. Ed. §250. (emphasis added). For example, in *Holbrook v. Albright Mobile Homes, Inc.*, 703 So.2d at 842, (Miss. 1997), an

employee alleged he was mislead by his employer as to whether workers' compensation coverage existed at all. After the employee subsequently filed a civil suit against the employer, however, the employer claimed the exclusive remedy provision of the Act as a defense. *Id.* The employer was granted summary judgment by the trial court, but the Supreme Court reversed the decision, stating the employer and carrier would be estopped from asserting a two year statute of limitations defense since they had failed to comply with the notice requirement of the Act and the proof suggested misrepresentation. *Id.* at 884; citing *Martin v. L & A Contracting Co.*, 162 So.2d 870 (Miss. 1964).

Important in understanding when equitable estoppel may be urged, then, are two key components that must be present: (1) an employer and carrier's failure to file a First Report of Injury when required by Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-67, and (2) action or conduct by the employer and carrier with the intent of preventing a worker from filing a workers' compensation claim. Both elements must be present for estoppel to apply and the second requires a factual finding by the Commission that fraudulent conduct occurred. See *Parchman* at \*27-8 (dissenting opinion). "The crux of those decisions [*Holbrook* and *Martin v. L. & A. Contracting Co.*, 162 So. 2d 870 (Miss. 1964)] was other conduct by the employer besides failure to give notice, that being misrepresentation . ..." *Id.* Since neither prong is met in Bynum's case and the Commission found estoppel did not apply, Bynum's argument in this regard is merely a red herring.

#### 1. <u>A First Report of Injury was not required</u>.

According to Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-67, employers and carriers are required to file First Reports of Injury <u>only</u> upon the fatal termination of an injury or upon an injury for which indemnity benefits are paid ("in the event of an injury which shall cause loss of time in excess of

- 13 -

the waiting period . . . "). It is uncontested that <u>no</u> indemnity payments were ever made to Bynum by Liberty Mutual Insurance Company. Since indemnity benefits were never paid by the carrier, and Bynum's claim was not a fatal injury, there was <u>no</u> requirement that a First Report be filed, at all (although a First Report was, in fact, filed). Indeed, regarding injuries in which no lost time benefits are paid, Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-67 (2) states they "are <u>not</u> required to be reported to the Commission." (Emphasis added). This simple fact, alone, is dispositive of Bynum's argument, without inquiry into the fraud prong. As the Circuit Court properly concluded, "[u]nder § 71-3-67 MCA, no report was initially required. This argument is without merit."

#### 2. <u>There was no fraudulent conduct.</u>

t :

Even a First Report of Injury been required in this claim, Bynum presented no proof to the Commission that Anderson-Tully acted to keep him from discovering that he could file a workers' compensation claim, the second element required. In fact, Mr. Myrick's letter to Bynum's attorneys in 2002 gave Bynum notice that he should have filed a claim, if he felt he was entitled to benefits. Bynum must prove such fraudulent conduct in order to argue estoppel. *Parchman*, at \*9-10. Bynum presented no proof that he was defrauded into not filing a claim. As such, his argument is without merit.

Bynum cites this Court to only one case in his entire brief, *McCrary v. City of Biloxi*, 757 So. 2d 978 (Miss. 2000). In *City of Biloxi*, the Court estopped an employer from asserting the two year statute of limitations since a notice of controversy had not been filed. *Id.* at 981-82. However, a reading of the case reveals that the employer told the injured employee that it would file his claim for him, misleading the employee into not filing a claim. *Id.* at 982. The Court found the claimant had <u>detrimentally relied</u> on the averments of the employer and carrier that they would file his compensation claim and, thus, had missed the statute of limitations. *Id.* 

The Court in *City of Biloxi* made clear, though, that a claimant has the burden of proving sufficient facts to support an estoppel claim. *Id.* at 981, citing *Chapman v. Chapman*, 473 So.2d 467, 470 (Miss. 1985) ("[t]he burden of establishing the elements of an estoppel is on the party asserting the estoppel. The existence of the elements of an estoppel must be established by the preponderance of the evidence."). In this case, however, the Commission found Bynum presented inadequate proof he had been intentionally misled by his employer into not filing a claim or that he detrimentally relied on anything allegedly told to him. As the Commission noted, Bynum simply cannot make such an argument since his own attorneys were informed, within the two year statute period, that the employer and carrier were not paying compensation benefits. Bynum's reliance on this single case is not supported by the evidence. However, even were it applicable, Bynum's estoppel argument would fail due to his admitted knowledge of the existence of workers' compensation coverage.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that employer and carrier could be estopped from asserting the statute of limitations by reason of not filing a First Report of Injury, Bynum's claim remains barred. Although understandably not mentioned by Bynum's brief, the estoppel theory is subject to a corollary to the *City of Biloxi* line of cases. Specifically, the Supreme Court has held employers and carriers are <u>not</u> estopped from asserting a statute of limitations defense if it is shown a claimant <u>knew or should have known</u> of the availability of a workers' compensation claim. The reason is simple: a claimant cannot sit idly on his rights and not file a workers' compensation claim if the availability of such opportunity is known.

t :

In Childs v. Mississippi Industries for the Blind, 184 So.2d 872 (Miss. 1966), the Supreme Court held that, despite a claimant's contention an employer was estopped from asserting the statute of limitations defense due to alleged acts and misrepresentations which induced a delay in filing his claim, the record "disclosed that the claimant had notice a claim could have been filed, but chose not to do so." (Emphasis added). Additionally, in Casey v. Deason Cash Grocery, 246 So 2d 534 (Miss. 1971), the Supreme Court refused to bar the employer and carrier from pleading the two-year statute of limitations defense, on the grounds that claimant evidenced no detrimental reliance. The Court specifically noted that "the evidence showed that she [claimant] was aware of her rights before the expiration of the limitation." Casey, 246 So.2d at 535; citing Childs v. Mississippi Industries for the Blind, 184 So.2d 872 (Miss. 1966) (Emphasis added). Succinctly stated, if the evidence reveals a claimant is on notice of the existence of workers' compensation coverage and has the opportunity to file a workers' compensation claim, the employer and carrier may assert the two year statute of limitations defense even if a First Report of Injury was not filed when required. The rationale behind the corollary is simple; a claimant cannot allege to have been detrimentally mislead in failing filing a workers' compensation claim if he was on, or should have been on, notice he had the opportunity to do so.

In this case, Bynum admits he knew Anderson-Tully had workers' compensation coverage. (Tr. 40). He also retained two workers' compensation attorneys during the statute of limitations period. (Tr. 46-47). The evidence clearly reflects Bynum knew of the availability of coverage and had ample opportunity to prosecute a workers' compensation claim within the statutory time frame. The Commission's determination he simply did not do so is in accordance with the overwhelming evidence and mandates affirmance of the Order of the Full Commission.

1.1

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the evidence in the record, the Commission was within its right as the statutory finder of fact to determine Bynum's claim is barred by Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-35(1) and, therefore, the Circuit Court properly affirmed the Commission decision. In accordance with the deferential standard of review, the appellees submit that the Order of the Full Commission should once again be affirmed.